FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAR 23 1992

By Chief Deputy Clerk

RONALD LEE WILLIAMS,

Appellant,

V. CASE NO. 78,249

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SPIRO T. KYPREOS COURT-APPOINTED ATTORNEY 127 EAST ZARAGOZA STREET SUITE 202-A PENSACOLA, FLORIDA 32501 (904)433-2185 FBN: 135237

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

I. Statement of Case

Appellant, Ronald Lee Williams, was indicted by an Escambia County grand jury for first degree murder 1, attempted first degree murder, and kidnapping. The indictment charged appellant with the premeditated murder or felony murder of Derek Devan Hill, Morris Alfonso Douglas, Michael Anthony McCormick, and Mildred Jean Baker; the attempted premeditated murder or felony murder of Amanda Merrill; and six counts of kidnapping as to those individuals and Darlene Crenshaw. The crimes are alleged to have occurred in Escambia County, Florida, on or about September 20, 1988. (R. 1047-1051.) Appellant was tried by jury and found guilty as charged on May 10, 1991 (R. 1275-1278). The jury recommended a life sentence (R. 1280). On June 21, 1991,

^{&#}x27;Four co-defendants were also indicted on the four homicides, to wit: Timothy Robinson, Michael Coleman, Darrell Frazier and Bruce Frazier. Robinson, Coleman and Darrell Frazier were convicted. They received a jury recommended sentence of life and each were sentenced to death by Circuit Judge Nickolas P. Geeker. A notice of appeal to this Court was filed by the co-defendants. The Robinson and Coleman appeals, Case Nos. 74,945 and 74,944 respectively, are still pending.

Jurisdiction was relinquished as to Darrell Frazier, Case No. 74,943. Re was resentenced by Judge Geeker subsequent to appellant's trial. He received a life sentence (Appendix, p. 1) and filed a notice of appeal to the First District Court of Appeal (Docket Nos. 91-2424, 91-2651).

As for co-defendant Bruce Frazier, the State permitted him to plead to the lesser included offense of second degree murder and he was sentenced to a term of fifty (50) years concurrent as to each homicide count (Appendix, p. 5).

Circuit Judge Nickolas P. Geeker adjudged appellant guilty of first degree murder and sentenced him to death (R. 1306-1314). Appellant was also adjudged guilty of attempted first degree murder and sentenced to a life term, and was adjudged guilty of the six kidnapping counts and sentenced to a life term, concurrent as to each and concurrent with the attempted first degree murder sentence. (R. 1294-1304.)

A notice of appeal was filed to this Court on July 1, 1991. (R. 1315.)

II. Facts

A. "Guilt" Phase

The crimes occurred on or about September 20, 1988, in a Pensacola apartment. Darlene Crenshaw (kidnapping victim) and Amanda Merrill (attempted murder/kidnapping victim) and the co-defendants Timothy "Red" Robinson, Michael "Mac George" Coleman, Darrell "Yoge" Frazier, and Bruce "Jit" Frazier testified for the State.

It was undisputed throughout the trial, that appellant was in Miami when the crimes occurred, "that Ronald Williams did not pull the first trigger or stab the first person" (R. 59). Consequently, Appellant was prosecuted as a principal.

To connect appellant to the Pensacola crimes of the four co-defendants, the State introduced evidence of two drive-by shootings committed four months previously in Jacksonville, Florida, by Bruce Frazier and Robinson. It is undisputed that appellant did not participate in those crimes, but the State

maintained that appellant was a principal as to those crimes as well. Appellant timely objected to the admission of the collateral crimes evidence (R. 195-203, 1192-1194).

The State called numerous witnesses to prove appellant's culpability as to the collateral crimes. The material facts pertaining to the collateral crimes will be discussed in more detail in relation to the Williams Rule issue, <u>infra</u>, the second point on appeal.

While several witnesses offered testimony relevant to the charged crimes, the facts and circumstances leading up to and surrounding the crimes were essentially related through the testimony of Crenshaw, Merrill and the Frazier brothers.

Darlene Crenshaw Testimony

On the morning of September 19, 1988, Morris Douglas and Derek Hill went to Crenshaw's house to open a safe they previously left at her house. She saw "some money and some drugs." A portion of the money was left with her. The drugs were placed in a duffel bag in her car trunk. (R. 441-444.)

Later that evening, she, Amanda Merrill, Douglas and Hill were at Hill's apartment. At approximately 11:10 p.m. there was a knock at the door. Hill opened the door. Pandemonium followed. Three men, armed with guns, came in. One began to inquire about "his stuff." A fourth armed man brought in Mildred Baker. The intruders pulled out the light cords, the occupants were required to undress, were tied up and made to lay on the floor. (R. 445-456.)

"One of the Frazier guys" seemed to be "doing all the talking." He kept saying he wanted "his stuff." Crenshaw indicated that she knew something and told him about the money. She did not mention the drugs (R. 446-447, 460).

She was allowed to dress, tied up, and carried out to a car. As they proceeded to her house, "the Frazier guy" told her he only wanted "his stuff," that she would not be hurt, and that he would "take care" of the guys. She told him where to find the money and drugs. Once at her house, he obtained the drugs, but needed her assistance to find the money. She was untied and located the money. As he left the house, he asked her to leave with him. She declined. (R. 447-450.)

Amanda Merrill Testimony

She recalls Hill opening the door and asking, "What's up?" A male said, "You know what's up." Other males then entered. All had guns. Robinson, whom she had never met before, was pointing a gun and advising they better talk. Hill pled ignorance. Robinson obtained a knife and started stabbing him. Crenshaw ("Tina") raised her hand and said she knew. Crenshaw was taken to a room for questioning. When Bruce Frazier came out and obtained her clothes, Robinson told him to tie Crenshaw up "real tight and make sure she don't get lost." (R. 469-474.)

After the Fraziers left with Crenshaw, Robinson commenced physically and verbally abusing Douglas and Hill. The women were raped. (R. 475-476.)

Soon thereafter Merrill heard someone come into the

apartment and say, "We got: what we want. Come on, let's go."

Another person said, "No, I'm going to do this." She heard a gunshot and saw Coleman come in with a knife. He cut her neck, left and then returned to cut her neck twice. He left again and then someone shot her in the back of the head. (R. 475-478.)

Prior to the attack, she heard "Mildred begging someone to not shoot her. She said don't -- she said, 'I'll tell you what I know. I'll tell you what I know.' And I know it was Red. He said, 'Get down, bitch.'" (R. 485-486.)

Despite her wounds, Ms. Merrill was later able to untie herself and call "911." (R. 478.)

Bruce Frazier Testimony

In February, 1988, Bruce Frazier established in Pensacola a drug organization for appellant. He rented an apartment, where he kept a safe. In September, 1988, Bruce Frazier had an argument with his girlfriend. Afraid she would turn informant, he moved the safe to McCormick's apartment on September 18. (R. 502-510.)

The safe was soon stolen. Bruce Frazier notified appellant in Miami. On September 19, 1988, Robinson, Darrell Frazier and Coleman met Bruce Frazier, McCormick and Baker at the Comfort Inn in Pensacola. When Darrell Frazier et. al. learned the safe was still missing, they decided everyone would go to McCormick's apartment to investigate. (R. 523-524.)

McCormick had a gun at the Comfort Inn. Bruce Frazier, at Robinson's request, borrowed the gun from McCormick. He gave it to Robinson. After they arrived at McCormick's apartment, Bruce

Frazier also borrowed from McCormick a shotgun which he then entrusted to Darrell Frazier. (R. 524-527.)

Robinson decided they should proceed next door to Rill's apartment to investigate further. Hill opened the door and they charged in. Robinson told the occupants to undress and lay on the floor. Robinson started to tear sheets and cords and tying up people. Bruce Frazier grabbed their clothing and put it to the side. A girl jumped up, indicating she had information. She was interviewed in a back room. As she and the Fraziers left the apartment, Robinson told him "to kill the girl" if police got behind them. (R. 527-530.)

They recovered the drugs and money from Crenshaw's house, left her there and returned to Hill's apartment.

Upon returning to the apartment Bruce Frazier went to the back bedroom. He saw a girl laying on the bed with her neck cut. He went to the kitchen and saw Hill on the floor with his neck cut. He also noticed that McCormick had been stabbed in the back. (R. 531.)

Darrell Frazier announced that "we had got the stuff, and then Timothy Robinson mentioned that we got one more thing to take care of before we leave." At that point Coleman shot McCormick in the head. Bruce Frazier went out of the house. Later Darrell Frazier came out. Bruce Frazier "heard a couple more shots" and Robinson and Coleman came out. (R. 532.)

Bruce Frazier left Pensacola for Miami. In Miami at appellant's home, he, Gwen Cochran, Darrell Frazier and appellant

got "high snorting some cocaine" and talked about the homicides. Cochran mentioned that she could get charged with accessory to murder and appellant "told her that he could get the most time out of all of us because he ordered for the people to be killed." (R. 535-537.)

When his brother and two companions arrived in Pensacola, Bruce Frazier thought their purpose was simply to investigate. His intent was that there would be no killing if he got his "stuff" back. He had not been told by the appellant to kill anyone (R. 553-556).

Appellant paid Bruce Frazier \$3,000 for what happened in Pensacola. Frazier felt he was shorted and should have been treated better. (R. 538, 557.)

Prior to the trial, Bruce Frazier had been a fugitive from justice for two years and the subject of an intensive manhunt. (R. 559.)

Darrell Frazier Testimony

On the day appellant learned of the theft, appellant Darrell Frazier and Robinson held a conference at appellant's house in Miami. They discussed possible suspects. Appellant allegedly indicated that if McCormick had anything to do with the missing drugs Darrell Frazier and Robinson were to "drop" him. The next morning they held another conference at appellant's house. Coleman was in attendance. Appellant stated that McCormick was a "big guy" and they would have to tie him up to obtain information from him. They also discussed obtaining

McCormick's firearms. (R. 607-616.)

Darrell Frazier, Coleman and Robinson flew to Pensacola. As noted above, they went to the Comfort Inn first and ended up at Rill's apartment. When Hill responded to a knock on the door, Darrell Frazier, armed with a shotgun, went in and pushed Hill out of the way. Coleman and Robinson followed him in. Coleman "told everybody to take their clothes off." Hill asked, "What is wrong?" Darrell Frazier said, "Man, you know what we're here for, man. We want our shit." He pumped the shotgun one time. Whereupon Crenshaw said, "I think I know what you're talking about." She was taken to a back room. (R. 617-618.)

Meanwhile, Robinson, who went in the kitchen to get knives, stabbed Hill. Darrell Frazier told Robinson to calm down, there was too much noise. (R. 619-620.)

Crenshaw told Darrell Frazier "the stuff" was at her house. He asked whether McCormick had anything to do with the matter. She answered affirmatively. Darrell Frazier yelled to Coleman that McCormick was involved too. Coleman ordered McCormick to disrobe also. Coleman stabbed McCormick with a knife and he started bleeding, saying "Please don't kill me. Please don't kill me." (R. 620).

The Frazier brothers took Crenshaw to her house. Darrell Frazier obtained the drugs and money. Be told her that everyone at the apartment would be okay (R. 637).

The Fraziers returned to Hill's apartment. Robinson and Coleman were advised that Crenshaw was not dead. Darrell Frazier

said, "Let's go, man. We got what we came for." Coleman said, "No, man, the nigger told us we got to drop them, man." Robinson also said appellant told them "to drop them." (R. 622-623.)

Darrell Frazier asked Baker for her car keys. Robinson told her, "I ain't going to kill you, where are your keys." She said, "Red, please don't kill me, please don't kill me." Darrell Frazier went to the kitchen to look for the keys. Be heard a gunshot. He went outside and heard another gunshot. The others came out and they left in two vehicles. (R. 623.)

Robinson, Coleman and Darrell Frazier left for Jacksonville and caught a plane to Miami the next day (R. 623-624). That same day appellant paid Coleman, Robinson and Darrell Frazier \$9,000 each (R. 631).

B. Penalty Phase

The State presented no additional evidence at the penalty phase of the trial. Appellant called five witnesses to provide mitigation.

Eartha Copeland

Ms. Copeland is 70 years old. She has known Ronald Williams since he was child, She testified that he came from a good family that loved and cared for him. (R. 965, 967.)

Alfred Lee Wright

Mr. Wright has known his cousin, Ronald Williams, for twenty-nine years. They grew up together in Vidalia, Georgia. He testified that Ronald had never been in trouble with the law before moving to Miami. (R. 969.)

John Morris

He is a friend of the Williams family. He has known Ronald Williams for nearly eight years. He testified that Ronald Williams treated him nice and asked that Williams' life be spared. (R. 971-972.)

Shirley Williams

Ronald Williams' sister. McCormick was the father of her children. Williams, she said, is "one of the most kindest, gentle-mannered people that I knows who can never hurt anybody, never. He's never did anything too disruptive in his whole life that I know of, anything at all. He's my kids' favorite uncle. And that's all they talk about." (R. 978-979, 985.)

Louise Williams

Ronald Williams' mother. She testified that he had a normal childhood. Be dropped out of school around the tenth grade and began working with her brother. He was compassionate towards his siblings and helped the family as best he could. Ronald Williams was also charitable towards his neighbors. (R. 992-994.)

In addition to the testimony above, in penalty phase argument to the jury, defense counsel noted that the State had sought and obtained the death penalty for Darrell Frazier, but the reality was that Darrell Frazier and Bruce Frazier would probably not get death. Defense counsel also stressed the fact that appellant was not the triggerman. (R. 1032-1033.)

In overriding the jury's life recommendation, the trial court weighed six aggravating factors. No statutory mitigating

factors were found to exist, but the trial court did find a nonstatutory mitigating factor was established by the evidence, namely, that appellant has been "a loving son to his mother and a good family member to other relatives." (R. 1309.)

On the question of culpability, the trial court found that appellant "without question master-minded and directed that the capital felones be carried out" and should receive the same punishment as Robinson and Coleman (R. 1312.) The trial court did not discuss the culpability of Darrell Frazier, whom he had previously sentenced to death, or the culpability of Bruce Frazier. Also, any disparate treatment the Frazier brothers would receive was not considered by the trial court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal presents six issues.

1. Improper judicial commentary

The trial court's duty to maintain the appearance of impartiality in the presence of the jury was breached. Without prior objection by the prosecutor, the trial court intervened during cross-examination of a key State witness. As defense counsel was suggesting that the witness had answered an important question differently at a pre-trial deposition, the trial court "objected" to the defense counsel's impeachment effort. Under the circumstances, the jury could construe the trial court's sua sponte intervention as a commentary on the witness's credibility, to wit: the problem was with defense counsel, the witness was truthfully answering the questions. Therefore, the trial court erred in denying appellant's motion for mistrial on this ground.

2. Williams Rule

Proof of two drive-by shootings that occurred in Jacksonville, Florida, in April-May, 1988, over four months prior to the charged crimes, was admitted into evidence. The trial court determined that it was relevant to the issue of identity and that under the federal evidentiary standard, which is less rigorous than the Florida standard, the State's proof of appellant's culpability was sufficient to warrant admission of the collateral crime evidence.

But The <u>modus</u> <u>operandi</u> for the drive-by shootings and the crimes that occurred months later in the Pensacola apartment were very different. Therefore, the collateral crime evidence was irrelevant.

Moreover, because there was no evidence that appellant participated in the drive-by shootings, and because the State failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence, as required by Florida law, that appellant was a principal to the drive-by shootings, appellant's culpability for the drive-by shootings was not established. Consequently, admission of the collateral crime evidence was not warranted.

In addition, the probative value of collateral crime evidence was outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

3. Slappy question

The State peremptorily challenged a minority juror. A facially neutral reason was proffered. In evaluating the credibility of the asserted rationale, the trial court considered only the voir dire of the challenged juror. The voir dire as a whole established two <u>Slappy</u> factors that are not rebutted by the record. Therefore, under Florida law the proffered reason was a mere pretext and the trial court erred in sustaining the peremptory challenge.

The peremptory challenge is invalid under federal law as well since the totality of relevant facts shows that the St te purposefully discriminated against the challenged minority juror.

4. Weighing of unproven aggravating factors

The trial court found six aggravating factors were proven beyond any reasonable doubt. The record demonstrates that four of the aggravating factors were not proven and that due to lack of any proof thereof no reasonable sentencer would have applied those factors. The trial court erred in relying upon those factors in imposing a death sentence.

5. Jury override improper

The jury's life recommendation was reasonable.

The relative culpability and disparate treatment of an accomplice are mitigating factors. The four co-defendants were the actual killers. The trial court did not evaluate the relative culpability of two of the triggermen: 1. Darrell Frazier, who acted as a leader at the crime scene and played a primary role as a planner and as a triggerman; and 2. Bruce Frazier, who procured the firearms used to commit the crimes and fully participated as a triggerman.

The trial court also did not evaluate the very obvious fact that the Frazier brothers would avoid the death penalty via resentencing or plea bargaining, even though each was death eligible under Enmund / Tison standards.

The jury could reasonably conclude that the Frazier brothers were at a minimum equally culpable, and would likely receive disparate treatment. Those mitigating factors, and the mitigating factor that appellant was a good family member, are reasonable grounds for the jury's life recommendation. Reasonable persons may disagreee with the life recommendation, but reason was its polestar.

6. Errors in noncapital sentences

The noncapital sentences are illegal in three respects: The life sentence for the attempted first degree murder conviction exceeds the maximum provided by law; the life sentence for the kidnapping convictions exceeds the legal maximum of a term of years not to exceed life; and the three (3) year minimum mandatory is illegal since appellant did not personally possess a firearm or weapon when the offenses occurred.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A TRIAL BEFORE AN IMPARTIAL TRIBUNAL BY INTERRUPTING, WITHOUT OBJECTION HAVING FIRST BEEN MADE BY THE PROSECUTOR, DEFENSE CROSS-EXAMINATION OF A KEY STATE WITNESS AND AFFIRMING THE WITNESS' CREDIBILITY.

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