JUN 18 1992

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SURREME COURT By_____

RONALD LEE WILLIAMS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 78,249

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-1778

Т

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

THE COURT: Mr. Patterson is correct. The manner in which she responds was not only dilatory but equivocal. The responses that she ultimately did give were not sufficient under <u>Witherspoon</u> or any of the following cases to constitute sufficient reason to strike her for cause, but certainly her equivocation on the death penalty issue I feel would be sufficient reason for the court to want to strike her peremptorily, and I'll, therefore, sustain the strike.

(TR 143-144).

Clearly, defense counsel had not made any attempt to assert a Neil/Slappy objection.

Moreover, even assuming for the moment the trial judge's observations were the functional equivalent of defense counsel's objection to the use of a peremptory challenge to Rankins, the record reflects a race neutral reason was given. The court, in State v. Slaw, 522 So.2d 22, further observed:

, , . Part of the trial judge's rule is to evaluate both the credibility of the person offering the explanation as well as the credibility of the asserted reasons. These must be weighed in light of the circumstances of the case and a total course of the voir dire in question, as reflected in the record.

We agree with the district court below that a judge cannot merely accept the reasons proffered at face value, but must evaluate those reasons as he or she would weigh any In order to permit the disputed fact. questioned challenge, the trial judge must conclude that the proffered reasons are, first, neutral and reasonable and, second, not a pretext. These two requirements are demonstrate 'clear necessary to and reasonable specific legitimate reasons.' (cite omitted). Moreover, they serve the goal of demonstrating a 'neutral explanation related to the particular case to be tried, ' (cite omitted) and that 'the question challenges were not exercised solely because of the prospective jurors race.' Neil, 457 So.2d at 486-87 (footnote omitted).

522 So,2d at 22.

In Reed v. State, 560 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1990, this Court

terminally observed:

In the limitations imposed by <u>State v. Neil</u>, the trial judge necessarily is vested with broad discretion in determining whether peremptory challenges are racially intended. State v. Slappy. Only one who is present at the trial can discern the nuances of the spoken word and the demeanor of those involved. Given the circumstances that both the defendant and the victim were white and the two black that jurors were already seated, we cannot say that the trial judge abused his discretion in concluding that the defense had failed to make a prima facie showing these was a strong likelihood that the jurors were challenged because of their race.

Reed was not prejudiced by the prosecutor having given explanations for his challenges. In fact, if it appeared from the prosecutor's explanation that his challenges were racially motivated, the trial judge would have been warranted in granting a mistrial despite not yet having ruled that the defense had made a <u>prima</u> <u>facie</u> showing. Here, Reed does not question the prosecutor's motivation for five of his eight challenges, and the reasons for the other three had at least some facial legitimacy. In trying to achieve the delicate balance between eliminating racial prejudice and the right to exercise peremptory challenges, we must necessarily rely on the inherent fairness and color blindness of our trial judges who are on the scene and who themselves get a 'feel' for what is going on in a jury selection process.

560 \$0.2d at 206.

Sub judice just as in <u>Reed</u>, the trial court, after observing the witnesses made a determination that the peremptory challenge of Ms. Rankins' was based on her ambivalence about the death penalty and not because she was black.

The record reflects that after the recited calloquy, defense counsel was really not concerned about the racial composition of the jury or whether the State was improperly using its peremptory challenges, but rather sought to obtain more peremptory challenges for the defense. The record reflects:

> MR. ETHERIDGE: Your Honor, at this time I request for additional would renew my peremptory challenges specifically based on the fact that the State has exercised two peremptory challenges of two black potential black jurors as well as myself, defense counsel, having to peremptorily strike a former law partner of Mr. Patterson's, Mr. Robert Kievet, that would have been another challenge I would have had if the court would have granted my challenge for cause. So, I make another motion for more peremptory challenges based upon those reasons.

> THE COURT: Well, as I mentioned before, you have exercised consistently the strike of white males in all of your strikes, While the Court recognizes that all the cases have said that the fact that the other blacks remain on the panel is not a controlling factor, the Court still needs to state on the record, and I think you will agree, that there are at least three other blacks that have tentatively been seated and accepted by the State, but I hold under advisement the

request for additional challenges. We'll call and have others seated right now.

(TR 144-145).

Based on the foregoing, especially <u>Reed v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, Williams is entitled to no relief a3 to this third claim.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY **WEIGHING** AGGRAVATING **CIRCUMSTANCES** NOT PROVEN IN SENTENCING **APPELLANT** TO **DEATH**

Williams' first sentencing issue questions whether four of the six statutory aggravating factors found were proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Williams does not challenge the applicability of §921.141(5)(b) or (d), Fla.Stat. to his case.

(A) Whether the Murder Were Committed to Avoid or Prevent a Lawful Arrest

The trial court concluded that this statutory aggravating factor was proven beyond a reasonable doubt providing:

The four capital felonies were committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest. This Court finds that the killings of the four victims were without provocation and senseless since the stolen contraband had been recovered; therefore, it is concluded the killings.occurred to prevent arrest or detection. <u>Correll v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 567; <u>White v. State</u>, 403 So.2d **331**, **338 (Fla. 1981).**

(TR 1309).

While acknowledging that when a law enforcement is not the victim, the State must show that the elimination of a witness was the dominant or only motive for the murder, that evidence exists <u>sub judice</u>. The record reflects that this entire criminal episode started out with Bruce Frazier and his girlfriend, Renee

Grandison, arguing in September 1988, at the Truman Arms Apartments where drugs and money was kept in one of Williams' Because Frazier was afraid that Renee was going to go to safes. the police as she threatened and expose the drug ring, Michael McCormick ("Gas") was told to move the safe to Pleasant Grove, another drug house location. (TR 377-378, 510-511). When the safe was taken from that property and moved next door to Douglas' and Hill's apartment, Williams got mad and wanted to know who took his property. He dispatched Timothy Robinson, Michael Coleman and Bruce Frazier, his enforcers, to Pensacola, to retrieve Williams' property and to "drop" the people who took the drugs and money. After the property was returned, all witnesses were eliminated, ending the thievery and securing the drug operation.

A similar circumstance occurred in <u>White v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 331, **338** (Fla. 1981), wherein this Court upheld this identical aggravating factor, finding:

> The trial judge in his findings recognized that the defendant was opposed to the killings but also pointed out that he, nonetheless, stood by armed and allowed the shootings to take place. In <u>Riley v. State</u>, 366 **So.2d** 19 (Fla. 1978), we held that although this aggravating circumstance was concerned primarily with the killing of law enforcement officers, it could validly be applied when the victim was not a law enforcement officer if the dominant motive for murder was the elimination of witnesses. (cite omitted), Here there was evidence presented that a 'contract' was placed for the murder of at least one of the victims. However, as noted by the trial court in its sentencing order, the presence of as many as seven of the victims was not anticipated. After the mask of one of the intruders fell from his face the three intruders discussed

the need for killing the victims. Although the defendant was apposed to the killings, he had fully participated in the robberies and did nothing to prevent or otherwise disassociate himself from the murders which then took place. Following the murders, the defendant voluntarily returned to his hotel room with his co-felons and accepted his the proceeds taken during the share of robberies. One of the intruders informed the wheel man Archie that it was 'the St. Valentine's Day Massacre,' but told him not to worry because 'not one of them (the victims) should live, ' We conclude there is sufficient evidence to sustain the trial judge's finding that the capital felonies in an effort to avoid arrest by eliminating witnesses to the crime. . .

403 So.2d at 338.

In the instant case not only did Williams dispatch his enforcers to, at the very least drop "Gas", but after they killed everyone in the apartment, they left heading towards Jacksonville first, and then Miami. When they finally got to Miami the next day, they met with Williams who told them that they had screwed up because "one" had gotten away. (TR 536, 556, 627-631, 650). Williams paid Darrell Frazier nine thousand dollars for the drop (TR 631), and Bruce Frazier got three thousand dollars (TR 538). Darrell Frazier testified when he met with Ronald Williams and a man named "Too Tall" a day after the murders in Miami, Williams told them that they had screwed up because "one got away." Williams was very upset about it and said that he was going to have to go to Pensacola with "Too Tall" and take care of it himself. (TR 627, 630).

In <u>Swafford v. State</u>, 533 \$0.2d **270**, 276 (Fla. 1988), this Court observed:

Although some decisions , have approved findings of motive to eliminate witnesses based on admissions of the defendant (cites omitted), in others the factor has been approved on the basis of circumstantial evidence without any such direct statement. Routly v. State, 440 So.2d 1257, 1263 (Fla. **1983)** ('express statement' not required), <u>cert. denied</u>, 468 U.S. 1220, 104 S.Ct. 3591, 82 L.Ed.2d 888 (1984). While Swafford's While Swafford's statement to Johnson did not contain any clear reference to his motive for the murder specifically, the circumstances of the murder were similar to those in many cases where the arrest avoidance factor has been approved. E.g., <u>Cave v. State</u>, **476 So.2d 180, 188** (Fla. **1985**) (evidence left 'no reasonable inference but that the victim was kidnapped from the store and transported Same thirteen miles to a rural area in order to kill and thereby silence the sole witness to the robbery), cert. denied, 476 U.S. 1178, 106 S.Ct. 2907, 90 L.Ed.2d 993 (1986); Routly v. State, (cite ('no logical reason' for the omitted) victim's abduction and killing 'except for the purpose of murdering him to prevent detection'). Other cases have applied the same reasoning on similar facts. (cites omitted),

<u>See also Harich v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 1082, 1086 (Fla. 1983); <u>Menendez v. State</u>, 419 So.2d 312 (Fla. 1987); Beltran-Lopez v. <u>State</u>, 583 So.2d 1030, 1032 (Fla. 1991), and <u>Maqueira v. State</u>, 588 So.2d 221 (Fla. 1991).

The trial court was correct in concluding that this aggravating factor applied and was proven beyond **a** reasonable doubt.

Terminally, it should be noted that this particular aggravating factor was not argued by the prosecution nor instruction given to the jury. The trial court, after reviewing the facts and circumstances of this case, concluded that this aggravating factor had been proven beyond a reasonable doubt. In <u>Hoffman v. State</u>, 474 So.2d 1178, 1182 (Fla. 1985), this Court concluded that it was not error for the trial court to find an aggravating factor which had not been argued to the jury.

(B) Pecuniary Gain

The trial court concluded that the murders were committed for pecuniary gain. Specifically, he found:

Since there were both kidnapping and robbery present which were separable events in this criminal episode, such findings does not constitute an impermissible doubling of aggravating circumstances. <u>Parker V. State</u>, 476 So.2d 134 (Fla. 1985); <u>Routly V. State</u>, 440 So.2d 1257 (Fla. 1983).

(TR 1309-1310).

Williams argues that "proof of robbery per <u>se</u> does not establish a pecuniary motive; the State must prove that a primary motive for the killings was pecuniary gain." (Appellant'sBrief, page 34). In the instant case, Williams dispatched his enforcers to retrieve the "drugs and money stolen from him." To suggest that this was not for pecuniary gain defies logic. The instant circumstance is no different from a murder to collect insurance proceeds, <u>Byrd v. State</u>, 481 So.2d 468 (Fla. 1986); <u>Zeiqler v.</u> <u>State</u>, 402 So.2d 365 (Fla. 1981); <u>Buenoano v. State</u>, 527 So.2d **194 (Fla. 1988), or** <u>Thompson v. State</u>, **553 So.2d 153 (Fla. 1989),** wherein defendant killed the victim who stole from him and tortured him before shooting him in order to find out where the money was located. The Court observed:

> There is no doubt that Thompson's conduct **was** motivated in part by revenge. However, it is clear that the purpose of the beatings inflicted in the boat was to prevail upon *Savoy* to divulge where the money was

located. As Thompson told Savoy, 'You can die easy or you can die hard.' The evidence supports a conclusion that the crime was committed for pecuniary gain.

553 \$0,2d at 156.

The trial court was correct in finding this statutory aggravating factor proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

(C) Heinous, Atrocious and Cruel

Williams also argues that the statutory aggravating factor that the murder was committed in a heinous, atrocious and cruel manner cannot be applied to his circumstances because of this Court's recent decision in.<u>Omelus v. State</u>, 584 So.2d 563 (Fla. 1991). In <u>Omelus</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Court reasoned that the aggravating factor that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel should not have been considered by the sentencer because:

> Nowhere in this record is it established that Omelus knew how Jones would carry out the murder of Mitchell, and, in fact, the evidence indicates that Jones was supposed to **use** a gun. There is no evidence to show that Omelus directed Jones to kill Mitchell in the manner in which the murder was accomplished. Under these circumstances, where there is no evidence of knowledge of how the murder would be accomplished, we find that the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating factor cannot be applied vicariously.

584 So.2d at 566.

In the instant case, beyond a shadow of a doubt, the murders were heinous, atrocious and cruel. The question that remains however is whether there was any evidence to link Williams to how his henchmen were going to perfect these murders. The record reflects that Williams was in constant contact with his henchmen who were sent to first uncover who stole drugs and money from Williams and then to eliminate them. Unlike Omelus who merely contracted with Jones to kill Mitchell, <u>sub</u> <u>judice</u>, Williams sent his "enforcers" to ferret out the thieves and then kill them. Clearly, in this instance Williams is as responsible as the perpetrators who tortured, stabbed and then shot the four deceased victims.

Moreover, even assuming for the moment that this Court continues to adhere to its decision in <u>Omelus</u>, <u>supra</u>, (see Justice Grimes' dissent) any error <u>sub judice</u> is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The trial court found five other valid aggravating factors and a paucity of non-statutory mitigating evidence, specifically, that "the evidence establishes that the defendant has been a loving son to his mother and a good family **member** to other relatives,'' (TR 1312). In light of the horrendousness of this multiple murder, any error is harmless beyond a seasonable doubt.

(D) Cold, Calculated and Premeditated

The trial court found that "these executions-style murders carried out in the manner already described, were clearly calculated acts done with premeditation. <u>Rutherford v. State</u>, 545 So.2d (sic) (Fla. 1989); <u>Bolender v. State</u>, 422 So.2d **833**, **838** (Fla. 1982). " (TR 1310).

Williams argues that "implicit in the latter finding is that no one was to be killed if the stolen property was retrieved, which further suggests that Appellant did not give a categorical order to kill; it also implies that the decision to kill was made by the actual killers in Pensacola, who, as pointed out to them

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